1986

Vickie Burrow v. Mark Vrontikis : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

This case involves the question of whether the right to back support within the period of limitation provided by Utah Code Annotated, Section 78-45a-3 is subject to the doctrine of equitable estoppel.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The lower court determined that the defendant was the father of the plaintiff's child, born the 17th day of August, 1976. The Court further determined that the plaintiff should receive child support in the amount of Two Hundred Dollars (\$200.00) per month, running from June of 1983 when Plaintiff filed her Complaint in this matter. (See Judgment) This portion of the Court's Order was not appealed. The Court further, however, provided judgment

against the defendant in the amount of Seven Thousand Two Hundred Dollars (\$7,200.00) for back support for the period June, 1979, through June, 1983. The trial court looked at the elements of the doctrines of laches and estoppel but determined as a matter of law that they could not be applied to obligations arising under Title 78, Chapter 45a. (Judgment and Findings of Fact). It is from this judgment for back support that defendant appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant respectfully submits that the doctrine of equitable estoppel is and should be fully applicable to claims for back support under Title 78, Chapter 45a of Utah Code Annotated, and that the judgment rendered by the District Court should be reversed, and the matter remanded to allow the District Court to consider application of the doctrine of estoppel against such claim.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Judgment was entered by the District Court on the 18th day of September, 1984. Defendant filed a timely Notice of Appeal which was perfected, and pursuant to stipulation, provided a supersedeas bond against the appealed from judgment in the amount of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Plaintiff and defendant dated during the latter part of 1975 and the early months of 1976. The relationship, although meeting the physical requirements for conception, never grew to one of emotional commitment. The plaintiff was then eighteen or

nineteen and the Defendant a twenty year old. (TR, pg. 34-35)

2. In approximately March of 1976, the plaintiff discovered that she was pregnant and met the defendant to advise him of these facts. (TR, pg. 36)

3. Following that meeting, there was no direct contact between the plaintiff and defendant for a period of seven years. (TR, pg. 38-39)

4. Plaintiff determined that she wanted to raise the child "separately and independently of Mark Vrontikis". (TR, pg. 21, Ln. 24, pg. 22, Ln. 13)

5. This decision was made even prior to the plaintiff's conversation with the defendant wherein he was advised of her pregnancy. (TR, pg. 22-23)

6. The defendant was subsequently advised of the plaintiff's desire not to see him, to have no contact with him, and to have him play no role in the life of the child. (TR, pg. 38-39)

7. Plaintiff subsequently married Allan Burrow and has had two children from that relationship. (TR, pg. 4) No claim for support or contact with the defendant was made by the plaintiff until January of 1983. That contact resulted in the instant matter being filed in June of 1983.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The doctrine of equitable estoppel is properly applicable to claims arising under a statute. The doctrine has been applied to cases involving past support obligations for a child born in wedlock. There is no reason to distinguish between the rights of

the mother of a child born out of wedlock to recover past support, in spite of her wrongdoing, from the rights of the mother of a child born in wedlock. The trial court should have applied the doctrine of equitable estoppel to the past support obligation and reached a resolution based on the facts.

ARGUMENT

THE DOCTRINE OF EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL MAY BAR
A RECOVERY FOR PART OR ALL OF A JUDGMENT
FOR BACK SUPPORT IN ACTIONS INSTITUTED
UNDER UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, TITLE 78,
CHAPTER 45A.

All parents have a duty to support their children. Utah Code Annotated, Section 78-45-3. This duty applies whether the child is a product of a solemnized relationship or born out of wedlock. Utah Code Annotated, Section 78-45a-1. But with this obligation comes parental rights and the opportunity to participate in the enjoyment of the child. See Slade v. Dennis, 594 P.2d 898 (1979), Thomas v. Children's Aid Society of Ogden, 12 Utah 2d 235, 364 P.2d 1029 (1961).

In 1981, this Court determined that there was no statute of limitations on determinations of paternity. Szarak v. Sandoval, 636 P.2d 1082 (1981). The statutory scheme of the uniform act on paternity, however, provides a statute of limitations against recovery for back support. On what would appear to be the theory that each separate expenditure toward support gives rise to a new claim or cause of action for participation by the putative father, no claim is allowed for support claims outside a four year period preceding the commencement of an action for determination of paternity. Utah Code Annotated, Section 78-45a-3.

It is concern for the needs and interests of the child which drive the non-application of statutes of limitations to the determinations of paternity.

"We are unable to find any time limitation as to when a suit may be instituted to determine paternity. The child has an interest in the matter, and courts should be reluctant to invent limitations not set out in the statute, especially where minor children may be adversely affected thereby.

... In cases of establishing paternity, there are other public policy considerations such as the need of the minor child for support and the requirement that the man who actually sired the child be required to furnish it's support. Nielsen and the State of Utah by and through the Utah State Department of Social Services v. Hansen, 564 P.2d 113, (1977)

To this end, it has been determined that a parent cannot release the right to future support. Price v. Price, 4 Utah 2d 153, 289 P.2d 1044, Gulley v. Gulley, 570 P.2d 127 (1977). It has thus been recognized that a right to support is owed by every parent to their child. This obligation, however, is for future support. Thus, every action which is brought for a determination of support obligations, as well as a claim for reimbursement for past support, is in fact two separate claims representing the interests of at least two separate parties. The Missouri Court of Appeals described this as two remedies, one looking to future support of the child, the other a common law independent action seeking to recover reimbursement for expenses already incurred. "The two remedies are conterminous rather than concurrent, and the one begins where the other ends." Smith v. Smith, 300 S.W. 2d 275, 278 (Mo. App. 1957). Missouri has also applied this

principal to claims for recovery of past expenditures for the support of illegitimate children.

"We believe the same principal applies where a mother seeks future support for her illegitimate child as well as recovery for past expenditures. The latter action has nothing to do with child support; the mother alone is entitled to reimbursement upon the basis of her quasi contractual relationship with the child's father." (Citation omitted). In the child's support count in this case, the son is the true party in interest and is represented by his mother only because of the disability to pursue by reason of minority. (Citations omitted). In her action for reimbursement, the mother is the only interested Plaintiff. "If [the judgment is] collected, that money goes to her, not to the child, who has already had the past support." (Citations omitted). V. v. S., 579 S.W. 2d 149, 151-152 (Mo. App. 1979).

This Court has recognized this principal with respect to past support.

"However, this [the rights of the child to future support] does not mean that a mother may not, by her actions or representations, or both, preclude herself from recovering past due installments of support money to reimburse her for the money which she has spent for the support of the child." Larson v. Larson, 5 Ut.2d 224. 300 P.2d 596, 598 (1956); see also Wasescha v. Wasescha, 548 P.2d 895 (1976).

In the instant case, the defendant asserted that plaintiff's claim for past support should be barred by the doctrine of laches and/or equitable estoppel. The trial court examined the evidence against defendant's claim, but determined that he was unable to apply this doctrine or provide any relief. "I do not condone the plaintiff's conduct in waiting some six years to make claim for support in the form of a lump sum obligation. It may

well be that had notice been given to the defendant much earlier, out of claim for back support, the defendant could have shared certain of the expenses incident to the raising of the child and thereby reduced the plaintiff's financial hardship. Conversely, had that been done, he would not now be faced with the difficult problem of a large lump sum obligation with his current family obligations and his new child. However, this Court is bound by the statutory scheme of the Utah Legislature and acted in the Uniform Paternity Act, Title 78-45a and following, as well as the language of our Supreme Court in interpreting that act under Getto (sic) vs. Butler Case, 584 P.2d 868, wherein it was stated that the equitable doctrines of latches and estoppel have no relevance in an action of this type since it is based upon a statutory schemen (TR, pg. 5, ln. 8-25)

Zito v. Butler, 584 P.2d 868 (1978) is a per curium decision of this Court affirming an award of both future support and past support for an illegitimate child. The primary attack of the appellant who appeared pro se, seems to have rested on a claim of Statute of Limitations. This Court, however, includes the following two sentences in that decision:

"Defendant also seeks to invoke the equitable doctrines of estoppel and latches. This being a statutory action, neither has any application." Id. at 869.

The only support for these sentences is a reference to 27 AmJur 2d, Equity Sec. 154. That section is fully set forth in the attachment hereto, but in pertinent part provides as follows:

"Latches is an equitable defense, and generally it arises only where there has been an unreasonable delay in asserting an equitable remedy. Ordinarily the defense may not be invoked in a

court of law, the action of the latter court being governed by the statute of limitations. It is said that only where the elements of an estoppel are present, may latches constitute a bar in an action at law. (Emphasis added). Id.

The unfortunate two sentences cited above from Zito v. Butler and relied upon by the trial court find no support in law and are inconsistent with prior rulings of this Court where the issues were properly represented on both sides. Even though the terms "latches" and "estoppel" are utilized almost interchangeably throughout the legal profession, they are separate and distinct principals. Leaver v. Grose, 610 P.2d 1262 (1980).

Traditionally, latches exists where two elements are proved:

- "(1) The lack of diligence on the part of plaintiff;
- (2) An injury to defendant owing to such lack of diligence." Papanikolas v. Sugarhouse Shopping Center Associates, 535 P.2d 1256, 1260 (1975); Leaver v. Grose, supra at 1264.

While the equitable function of latches may well serve the same fundamental principals as a statute of limitations, and may have questionable application where a statute of limitations has been provided or the claim based upon doctrines of law as opposed to equity, it is the primary force and function of equitable estoppel to attack the ability of a party to rely upon statutory protections. In J.P. Koch, Inc. v. J.C. Penney Co., Inc., 534 P.2d 903 (1975), Koch sued to recover labor and materials furnished as a subcontractor on a construction job to the defendants, wherein the general contractor had become insolvent.

Plaintiff relied upon the statutory bonding requirements to impute liability for its claim on the defendants. Defendants claimed that plaintiffs were estopped through their actions from relying upon the statute. In ruling in favor of the defendants, and against the application of the statute, this court stated as follows:

"The position of the plaintiff in support of the ruling of the trial court seems to be that failure of the owner to furnish the bond required by Section 14-2-1 results absolute liability; and that the plaintiff could neither waive its right nor be estopped from enforcing it. This, of course is not right. Notwithstanding the provisions of that statute, there is no question but that a person may waive or forego the right it gives him, the same as he could any other property right." Id. at 904.

Thus equitable doctrine can be applied and statutory schemes are not absolute in the face of equity. "It is a doctrine of equity to prevent one party from diluting or inducing another into a position where he will unjustly suffer loss." Id. at 905.

It is further well recognized that the doctrine of equitable estoppel may be applied specifically against the application of the statute of limitations. Rice v. Granite School District, 456 P.2d 159 (1969).

Additionally, this doctrine is no stranger to claims based upon the claims for past support. Larson v. Larson, supra; Wasescha v. Wasescha, supra; In re Marriage of Szamoki, 47 Cal. App. 3d 812 (Cal., 1975).

In the case of Larson v. Larson, supra, provides the most indepth analysis of this application to obligations for past due support. In Larson, the defendant provided no support to the minor children of the parties from 1947 to 1955. The defendant

maintained that his failure to provide support during this period was predicated upon representations from the mother of the children that ". . . all she wanted from the appellant is that he should refrain from trying to see her or the child." Id. at 596. In reliance upon representations of the respondent, the appellant in the Larson case had remarried and had taken on other obligations. As in the instant case, no relationship was maintained with the children and the father changed his situation from that existing at the time the obligation was incurred. As in the instant case, the trial court determined a defense of laches or estoppel was not available to the Larson appellant. This court determined that estoppel was applicable in such a circumstance. The Larson court noted:

"Where the father's failure to make such payments was induced by her representations or actions, and where, as a result of such representations or actions the father has been lulled into failing to make such payments and into changing his position which he would not have done but for such representations, and that as a result of such failure to pay and change in his conditions, it will cause him great hardship and injustice if she is allowed to enforce the payment of such back installments, she may be thereby estopped from enforcing the payment of such back installments." Id at 598.


There is no logical basis upon which to predicate a distinction between the application of estoppel to a back support obligation founded upon a decree of divorce from founded upon the determination of paternity. The illegitimate child bears no greater interest at law than that of a lawful marriage and in fact, as indicated above, has no relationship to the claim made by the mother for repayment. The actions of a mother claiming

back support founded upon a decree of divorce may be analyzed by the trial court for a determination of estoppel. Likewise, the trial court in the instant case should have been allowed to apply the doctrine in this matter. The unfortunate language of Zito v. Butler", supra should be corrected to correct the confusion created thereby and bring its principals into consistency with the body of law dealing with the subject of estoppel as established and existing within the State of Utah and throughout the United States.

CONCLUSION

The judgment of the trial court should be reversed and remanded as to the judgment in the amount of Seven Thousand Two Hundred Dollars (\$7,200.00) predicated upon back support and remanded to allow application of the doctrine of estoppel.