1986

Vickie Burrow v. Mark Vrontikis : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case presents the issue of whether this Court should reverse its holding in the case of Zito v. Butler that the equitable doctrines of estoppel and laches are not applicable to a statutory paternity proceeding.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a paternity action brought by plaintiff against defendant pursuant to the Uniform Act on Paternity, Section 78-45a-1, et seq., Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended). The parties stipulated at trial that the defendant was the father of plaintiff's child, born on August 17, 1976. The issues of past and future support were tried to the Court. The Court determined that the defendant should pay to the plaintiff child support in the sum of \$200.00 per month, effective June, 1983 when plaintiff filed

her Complaint, and defendant has not appealed this portion of the judgment. The Court further determined that the plaintiff was entitled to judgment against the defendant in the sum of \$7,200.00 for back support for the period from June, 1979 until June, 1983. The defendant has appealed the portion of the judgment for back support.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Defendant stipulated at trial that he is the father of plaintiff's child, Chad Laverne Harney. (R. 177, 178)

2. When plaintiff informed defendant that she was pregnant, he indicated he was not able to make any commitments to her. (R. 180)

3. There was no further contact between the plaintiff and defendant prior to the filing of this action. (R. 181, 214)

4. Plaintiff and defendant had a mutual friend, and defendant admitted that, had he made an effort, he could have located the plaintiff. (R. 222, 226)

5. Plaintiff filed this action due to her bankruptcy and separation from her husband and her need for support for the child. (R. 182)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has previously held in the case of Zito v. Butler, 584 P.2d 868 (Utah 1978) that the equitable

doctrines of estoppel and laches are not applicable to a statutory paternity action. In any event, the equitable doctrines of estoppel and laches do not apply to the facts of this case.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EQUITABLE DOCTRINE OF LACHES IS NOT APPLICABLE TO A STATUTORY PATERNITY ACTION IN THE STATE OF UTAH.

In 1965, Utah adopted the Uniform Act on Paternity, Section 78-45a-1, et seq., Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended). A copy of the Act is included in the addendum hereto. The Act provides a statutory basis for the determination of paternity, replacing the common law basis for such an action prior to the adoption of the Act. The Act also provides for a determination of the father's liability for support, including necessary support furnished on behalf of the child for the four years preceding the commencement of an action. In 9A Uniform Laws Annotated, Paternity, Section 3, the Commissioner's Note indicates that "this section is intended to prevent cumulating an excessive amount to be recovered at once against the father."

Based upon Section 78-45a-3, the trial court awarded judgment to the plaintiff for four years of necessary support furnished prior to the commencement of the action.

The defendant asserts that the plaintiff's claim for past support should be barred by the equitable doctrine of laches.

By adopting the Uniform Act on Paternity, Utah vitiated the common law action and substituted a statutory basis for a paternity claim. It is hornbook law that laches is an equitable doctrine and defense and is inapplicable to a statutory action. In 27 Am Jur 2d, Equity, Sections 153 and 154, the general rule is stated as follows:

Laches is a purely equitable doctrine, and the defense of laches is a creation of equity and is generally peculiar to a court of equity
. . .

Laches is an equitable defense, and generally it arises only where there has been an unreasonable delay in asserting an equitable remedy. Ordinarily, the defense may not be invoked in a court of law, the action of the latter court being governed by the statute of limitations. (Footnotes omitted)

This Court is in accord with the general rule. In Zito v. Butler, 584 P.2d 868 (Utah 1978), the mother instituted a paternity proceeding some four and one-half years after the birth of the child. The father asserted that the mother's claim was barred by the statute of limitations and by the doctrines of laches and estoppel. This Court upheld the judgment in favor of the mother and, in ruling on the father's assertion that the mother's claim was barred, stated as follows: "Defendant also seeks to invoke the equitable doctrines of estoppel and laches. This being a statutory action neither has any application." The

decision in Zito is directly applicable to the instant case. Defendant's appeal can only be granted if this Court reverses the decision in Zito.

In Szarak v. Sandoval, 639 P.2d 1082 (Utah 1981), the mother and the Utah State Department of Social Services brought a paternity action, and the trial court ruled in favor of the plaintiffs. The defendant appealed, arguing that the action was without the statute of limitations, having been brought over six years after the birth of the child. This Court affirmed the decision of the trial court holding that the recovery for necessary support furnished in the four years prior to the commencement of the action can be recovered so long as the action is brought within the statute of limitations. The Court further held that the statute of limitations is tolled during the child's minority, even if the action is brought by the mother and/or the State Department of Social Services and that recovery under Section 78-45a-3 can still be had. In the instant case, the child of the parties was still in his minority at the time the action was commenced, and recovery for the four years of necessary support furnished prior to the action should be upheld.

Defendant turns to several cases in his brief to support his argument on appeal. He cites two cases from the Missouri Court of Appeals which he claims bolster his position that laches should be applied in the case on appeal. However, the Missouri Court is clearly dealing with

an equitable common law claim as stated by the Court in the case of V _____ v. S _____, 579 S.W.2d 149 (Mo.App. 1979):

Missouri recognizes the common law doctrine of indemnity for recovery of monies expended for necessities from one who owed the duty to support. In the area of domestic relations, this doctrine encompasses both monies expended for support by another of a delinquent husband's wife as well as those expended for the support of a delinquent father's children. A distinction is made between the statutory remedy for future maintenance and support and the common law remedy for recovery of a specific liquidated amount already paid out. (Emphasis added)(Citations omitted)

Under the Uniform Act on Paternity in Utah, both the claim for future support and the claim for necessary support furnished within the four years prior to the commencement of the action have a statutory basis and are not dependent upon a common law remedy. Thus, the analogy to the Missouri cases must fail.

Defendant also relies on this Court's ruling in the case of J.P Koch, Inc. v. J.C. Penney Company, Inc., 534 P.2d 903 (Utah 1975), where the plaintiff subcontractor sued the owner of a building for a balance due on the subcontract. Defendant argues that this Court's ruling allowed the defendants to prevail based upon the doctrine of waiver and estoppel. However, the true holding is that the plaintiff had signed lien waivers, legally waiving its claim, and this Court so found. This case did not involve a question concerning the equitable doctrines of waiver and estoppel.

POINT II

EVEN IF THE EQUITABLE DOCTRINE OF LACHES WERE APPLICABLE TO STATUTORY PATERNITY ACTIONS, IT WOULD NOT BE APPLICABLE TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

In this case, the sole evidence that goes to the issue of laches is the fact that the plaintiff waited approximately six and one-half years from the birth of the child before contacting the defendant. There is also evidence that the defendant indicated he could make no commitment to the plaintiff and that, for religious reasons, they could not marry.

In the case of Adams v. Adams, 593 P.2d 147 (Utah 1979), this Court dealt with the issue of laches in a claim for accrued and unpaid alimony. The parties in that case were divorced in 1970 and, in 1977 the plaintiff made a claim for unpaid alimony. The trial court found for the defendant, ruling that the plaintiff was estopped by her silence from claiming the unpaid alimony. This Court reversed and remanded with instructions to enter judgment in favor of the plaintiff. In so doing, this Court stated:

Mere silence on the part of plaintiff is not sufficient to raise an estoppel, and we find nothing in the record to support the Court's finding that she had a duty to speak. In the case of French v. Johnson, 16 Utah 2d 360, 401 P.2d 315 (1965), this Court held:

The facts show no representations, either explicit or implicit, by plaintiff to defendant with respect to

discontinuation of payments . . . Mere silence over a period of time will not raise an estoppel. (Citations omitted)

The record does not show that plaintiff misled defendant in any way, nor that defendant changed his position to his detriment in reliance on any representations or actions on the part of plaintiff.

In the case now before the Court, there is no evidence that the plaintiff made any representations to the defendant concerning his legal duties and obligations nor that he relied to his detriment on any actions of the plaintiff. Thus, the plaintiff's mere silence cannot be held sufficient to impose the doctrines of estoppel or laches in this case.

Finally, the defendant's reliance on this Court's decision in the case of Larsen v. Larsen, 5 Utah 2d 224, 300 P.2d 596 (1956) is misplaced. In that case, this Court held that the doctrine of laches may be applicable in an action by the plaintiff to recover unpaid child support. However, it should first be noted that there is no statutory basis for the recovery of unpaid child support. Second, in the Larsen case, the evidence indicated that the plaintiff had represented to the defendant that he need not pay any child support if he would stay away from the plaintiff and not interfere in her life. She further represented that her new husband would support the child of the parties and did not expect to be repaid. Finally, the evidence indicated that the defendant had relied upon the active representations of the plaintiff and had undertaken other obligations in the